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Part One
COME TOGETHER
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Crete, Greece


To the tourists waiting at the entrance of Hotel Knossos, the coach seemed to appear out of nowhere. The rain was coming down in torrents, smacking out a heavy rhythm on the roof of the reception area. The huge shape that rounded a fountain in the courtyard looked like a giant beetle coming at them through the rain.


A cheer went up from the group. The coach was late and now they had less than an hour to reach the airport, almost twenty miles away. A few minutes later the passengers were all on board, their luggage stowed. The driver shouted something to one of the hotel staff as the doors hissed shut. With a hand-rolled cigarette dangling limp from his lips, the driver swung the big steering wheel and the vehicle nosed onto the mountain road.


The coach smelled bad. A blend of sweat and damp clothes and the fug of the driver’s cigarette. There was also an animal smell, the smell of fear. The road from the hotel to the airport wound around treacherous hairpin bends. It was pockmarked with holes and irregular tarmac. All that could be seen through the curtains of driving rain was an empty void. A few feet to the right the cliff fell away to nothing.


But the driver had no fear. He swung the coach around the bends with the confidence of a man who had driven along these roads a thousand times and knew every bump, every ripple in the tarmac.


Outside, it was growing dark. An unnatural dark. Roiling storm clouds blotted out the last of the Greek daylight.


The driver cursed and braked sharply. The coach skidded, the tyres screeched. Great plumes of water leaped up the side of the vehicle. A woman screamed. Swinging the wheel dexterously hand over hand, the driver pulled the coach hard to the right and stopped an inch from a sheer wall of rock. A little white Renault, its headlights ablaze, edged past on the left. It left almost nothing between it and the edge of the cliff. The car accelerated away. The driver leaned on the horn.


The coach had stalled. The driver fired up the engine again, tugged on the heavy gearshift and swung the vehicle back into the centre of the road, around the next bend and on to a straight, narrow stretch. To the left, the passengers could see the lights of a village. White buildings nestled in a ravine. The view was blurred by the torrential rain. Twin shafts of yellow from the headlights danced in the murk. The driver pushed down on the accelerator. The speedometer nudged 60. To the right, the rock face flew by in a wash of grey.


The straight went on for more than a quarter of a mile, but up ahead the road curved sharply to the right. From there, a series of sharp turns led to a short tunnel cut into the rock. Beyond that stretched the long, slow descent to the highway and the airport.


The needle on the speedometer touched 65. Passengers exchanged nervous glances. An elderly man tried to get out of his seat to speak to the driver but his wife pulled him back. ‘Don’t be a fool,’ she snapped. ‘It’ll only put him off.’


The headlights of a car appeared around the bend a hundred feet ahead.


The coach driver knew immediately there was nothing he could do. He tried easing his foot on the brake pedal, but there was no grip. The coach barely slowed. He pushed harder, knowing that too much pressure would send the coach aquaplaning to disaster.


The front left wheel hit a large bump in the tarmac. The driver tried to compensate, overdid it, and sent them too far right. The nearside wing mirror smashed against the rock wall. Lumps of glass and plastic shot along the narrow gap between the wall and the main body of the coach. A metal bolt ricocheted through a window two-thirds of the way along the coach and slammed into the right eye of the passenger in 23B, a young woman on her honeymoon. The bolt ripped through her brain, exiting close to her right ear and taking a large chunk of cranial bone and hair with it.


The driver panicked and slammed his foot hard on the brake. The rear of the coach almost lifted off the ground. The front suspension roared and the plastic front bumper hit the road and shattered. The back of the coach swung around as the vehicle aquaplaned on the wet tarmac. A wall of water shot up the side of the coach, which smashed into the car coming towards it. The car flew over the side of the coach and almost disintegrated as it landed on the road. The chassis separated from the body of the car and smacked into the rock wall before bouncing over the cliff.


The coach kept sliding along the road. The front of the vehicle collided with a knob of rock protruding from the corner. It spun around and thundered into the rock face side-on. A chunk of rock the size of a bowling ball broke away from the wall and rocketed through the windscreen, decapitating the driver and pulverising his head against the steel support behind his seat. The windows shattered and the passengers were thrown around like clothes in a dryer. The air was filled with the sound of crunching metal and screams.


Rebounding from the wall, the shuddering coach spun around. The back hit a rocky outcrop, sending the vehicle onto its side – and over the cliff edge.
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The four choppers had blacked-out windows and one passenger each. They flew low over the ocean, ten minutes apart. Each of the passengers was given the full VIP treatment – champagne and canapés. But before boarding they had been told the trip would only be possible on the condition they signed a contract binding them under international law neither to speak nor write of anything they would see that day. Curiosity had won them over.


As each chopper landed, a black car docked with its door and its passenger was escorted into a waiting car. Like the choppers, the cars had windows made from polarised glass.


Still ten minutes apart, the cars arrived at a reception area and drove into a windowless hangar. There each guest was met by an official and an armed guard. They passed through a metal detector, and then were taken to a comfortable but windowless room. There was a coffee machine, sandwiches and cake. Soft sofas hugged three walls and a low table stood in the middle of the room. On top of this was spread a collection of glossy magazines.


Thirty minutes after the first guest had arrived, he was joined by three others. Two men in slacks and open-necked shirts appeared. They shook hands with the four guests and led the way to another, smaller room that looked like a college seminar room. The escorts left without a word.
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Base One, Tintara


For 24 hours the world was gripped by images of a tour coach dangling on the edge of a promontory in Crete. They watched as rescue teams did everything they could to save the passengers. Mark Harrison was no different. Like millions of others around the world, he was glued to his TV screen. Unlike those millions, he could do something about it … almost.


The coach had lodged on a rocky outcrop 30 feet below the road. Beneath it loomed hundreds of feet of air.


The passengers had moved to the back of the coach to take the weight off the front end. The dead had been dragged along the central aisle, while the injured lay stretched out on the rear seats. A handful of survivors had managed to scramble through the shattered windows and onto the cliff, where they had been picked up by helicopters.


Emergency rescue teams had tried everything, but it was impossible to get into the coach without disturbing its precarious balance. Military choppers lowered massive metal jaws to clamp around the stricken vehicle, but the operation almost ended in disaster as the coach rocked wildly. After that, the rescuers backed off to work up a new plan.


Now the wind was getting up and, after a spell of clear skies, a storm was approaching. The choppers were grounded. In a last-ditch effort, a team of climbers abseiled down the cliff face, planning to secure cables around each end of the coach. These were connected to a massive haulage vehicle on the road high above.


The world watched as the sky turned an unhealthy black. The rain thundered down, drenching everything. A lightning bolt ripped across the sky, casting a horrid lemon light over the scene. The coach rocked in the high winds. Thunder smothered the sound of metal scraping on rock.


Harrison saw the first two rescuers reach the coach. One shuffled along a narrow ledge of rock with a two-inch-wide cable in one hand. A second lightning bolt hit the cable, sending over a million volts through the rescuer’s body. He flew 20 feet into the air, his severed hand still gripping the cable.


Around the world, hundreds of millions of viewers gasped in unison. Nothing like this had been seen since two airliners had ploughed into the Twin Towers in New York City.


Harrison was alone in a white-walled room. He was sitting on the edge of a desk. He could feel his heart pounding. Without realising it, he was picking the skin around his right thumb.


A phone rang and he turned to answer it. ‘They’re all here, sir,’ a voice said. ‘Room 17.’


Harrison replaced the receiver and turned back to the screen, just as the coach lurched and slid away down the cliff.
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Mark Harrison walked into Room 17. He was escorted by two men in black boilersuits. At a nod from Harrison, the men retreated from the room and closed the door behind them.


Harrison was wearing a dark blue suit and a white shirt without a tie. A few years back, one of his superiors had dubbed him ‘Denzel’ because of his striking resemblance to the Hollywood star. And indeed he did have something of the actor’s commanding presence and air of authority. Aged 42, Harrison was six-foot-three and just shy of 200 pounds, without an ounce of fat on his broad frame. His hair was cropped short, and his face was taut and muscular, with narrow eyebrows and eyes the colour of burnt ash.


There were four people in the room – two men and two women. Harrison knew two of them personally, and the other two only by reputation. They were seated in a semicircle, and in front of the group was a vacant chair and a small table. On this stood a jug of water, a glass and a remote control. On one wall of the room was a large flat-screen TV.


‘Good morning.’ Harrison placed a green folder on the table and looked at the four faces. His voice was deep, with just a hint of a Southern drawl to it.


One of the men leaned back in his chair. ‘Mark bloody Harrison. I might have guessed.’ He stood and the two men shook hands.


‘It’s good to see you, Josh,’ Harrison replied.


One of the others, a Japanese woman in her early thirties with jet-black eyes and black hair cut into a bob, was shaking her head and getting up. ‘Mark. You’re well, I hope?’


‘All the better for seeing you, Maiko.’


The other two in the room looked on, a little bemused.


Harrison sat down and folded his arms. ‘I guess you all deserve an explanation.’


‘That would be nice,’ Josh Thompson said.


‘First, I’d like to thank you all for agreeing to come here at short notice. The fact is you’ve all been brought here under false pretences. But –’ and he raised a palm when he saw their frowns – ‘let me assure you, it’s for a very good reason.’


‘So this is not a NASA training visit?’ Maiko Buchanan said. ‘That’s what I was told.’


‘No, it’s not. Nor is it a seminar on a new encryption breakthrough,’ Harrison added, looking at Josh. ‘I think the best thing is for us to get acquainted. You’ve been here a few minutes. I guess you’ve chatted. Let me start at the beginning. A briefing, if you like.’ He stood and picked up the remote, clicking it as he walked towards the screen on the wall. The lights dimmed.


‘Peter Sherringham,’ Harrison said, and a picture of the man sitting on the far right of the semi-circle appeared on the screen. He had curly sandy hair, blue eyes and a large mouth. Harrison glanced towards him.


‘Born – Newcastle, England, March 1973. Now one of the world’s foremost authorities on the manufacture, control and deactivation of explosives. An NCO in the British army from 1991 to 2004. Served in Northern Ireland, Afghanistan and Iraq. After retiring from the army, Peter founded Globex, now a leading specialist in commercial demolition.’


Pete Sherringham was sitting ramrod-straight in his chair. ‘What’s this all about?’ he asked, with just a hint of irritation. He had a strong accent – working-class Geordie – but it was a soft, controlled voice, the voice of a man who was not easily rattled. ‘I’m not complaining about the champagne, mind. But I get the feeling I’m not here to learn the details of a new explosive putty – as advertised.’


Harrison produced a brief smile. ‘No, Pete,’ he said.


Sherringham was about to respond when the screen changed and his face was replaced with that of a blonde woman with striking dark-brown eyes. He realised it was the woman sitting next to him.


‘Dr Stephanie Jacobs,’ Harrison continued. ‘Born – Sydney, Australia, June 1975. Olympic 100-metre and 200-metre freestyle gold-medallist in 1996 and 2000. Completed medical training in 2001. Specialised in burns treatment. Became consultant at Royal North Shore Hospital, Sydney, 2007. Now heads an internationally renowned burns unit. Husband, SAS Major Edward Trevelyan, died in Afghanistan in 2009.’


Stephanie Jacobs sat calmly, legs crossed, hands in her lap, saying nothing. Her blonde hair was short, tucked behind her ears. She was wearing a smart suit that accentuated her perfect physique.


‘Maiko Buchanan,’ Harrison went on. ‘Born – Kyoto, Japan, May 1974. Migrated with parents to Boston, Massachusetts, 1984. Engineering major at UCLA. A-grade soccer player, before being selected for fast-track programme at NASA. Has flown the space shuttle three times, most recently as mission commander.’


‘Wow!’ Maiko said, with a broad grin that lit up her small, pretty face. ‘Sounds great – I hardly recognise myself!’


‘Josh Thompson. Born – London, 1973. Olympic triathlon gold-medallist in Atlanta, 1996. PhD in cryptography, King’s College, London, 2002. Served in the British SAS as an encryption expert until 2007. Retired with the rank of major. Published The Theory and Practice of Cryptography, 2008. Currently professor at Columbia University, New York.’


The others turned towards Josh, whose legs were stretched out in front of him. He wore jeans and cowboy boots, a black T-shirt and leather jacket. His hair was dark and swept back. Prominent cheekbones made him look younger than his 38 years. He stood and gave a bow, and they saw what a large man he was, six-foot-five and broad-shouldered. As he sat down, he said, ‘And what about you, Mark?’


At a click of the remote the screen changed. A picture of Mark Harrison appeared. They all read the CV.


 


Born: Houoston, Texas, 1969


Rhodes Scholar, mathetmatics major, Oriel College, Oxford, 1987–1990. PhD in computer science


First African-American Oxford rowing blue


Head of new technology for IBM, 1991–1955


Served in the US Special Forces, 1995–2000. Retired with the rank of colonel


Fluent in Mandarin, Russian, French and Spanish


Marksman (Distinguished Expert Class)


Judo master (6th dan)


The picture clicked off and the lights came up.


‘So,’ Josh Thompson asked, ‘now will you tell us why we’re here?’


‘I can do better than that. Follow me.’
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Mark Harrison led them into a wide corridor. ‘You’ll have to excuse the cloak-and-dagger stuff,’ he said. ‘But I think you’ll soon see the reason for it.’


Harrison ran his hand over a sensor pad on the corridor wall and a panel slid away, revealing a tropical vista. The four visitors were transfixed. The horizon was a line of statuesque palm trees rising above a swatch of jungle shrouded in mist. In the foreground stretched an expanse of turquoise water as flat as a mirror.


‘We’re on the island of Tintara, 1240 miles south-southwest of San Diego. And this is Base One. Follow me.’


The panel closed and Harrison walked quickly along the corridor. A door opened at the end and he led the four into a large room. A bank of plasma screens lined the wall to their right. Men in boilersuits were seated at control panels. Harrison strode past them to a massive window. Through the window, they could see a hangar 200 metres long and 100 wide. It was abuzz with human activity. Dozens of technicians were scurrying around, dwarfed by the two massive aircraft that dominated the hangar’s huge space.


‘Impressive, huh?’ Harrison said, turning to the others.


The two identical machines looked like scaled-down but futuristic stealth bombers. Beside these was a line of brightly coloured ground vehicles. One looked like a bulldozer from the 22nd century, and next to it stood a tracked vehicle with a beautiful low profile.


In the centre of the vast space they could see a cluster of desks with what looked like ultra-thin flat-screen computer terminals. It took the visitors a moment to realise that the screens were images in the air – 3D holographic projections. The keyboards were also light patterns projected onto the desks. Most interesting of all, the computer operators were talking to the terminals – and the computers were answering back.


‘Come, sit down,’ Mark Harrison said, gesturing to the comfy chairs just back from the window.


‘So, what’s going on here?’ the Australian, Stephanie Jacobs, asked.


‘Something wonderful.’


‘We’ll have to take your word for that, Mark,’ Maiko Buchanan said.


‘Fair enough,’ he replied. ‘Have you ever watched a catastrophe unfold in the media and wondered why there isn’t some special organisation that could go in and help?’


Harrison’s four guests studied his face.


‘Seven years ago I was watching TV when a news flash came on. A submarine was trapped on the ocean floor, just off Costa Rica. It was a civilian sub used by marine biologists. They were 2000 feet under water. Rescue teams could do almost nothing. It took three days for the US military to get involved. By the time they reached them, the five-man crew were all dead.’


‘I remember it,’ Pete Sherringham said. ‘The Montana.’


‘It was a turning point for me. I knew those men shouldn’t have died. They could have been saved. I was angry. How could Western governments spend trillions of dollars each year on arms but not have a global specialist rescue organisation? How come we can precision-bomb Baghdad and get hundreds of thousands of soldiers into combat zones anywhere in the world, but we can’t get to Costa Rica in time to save the lives of a group of scientists?


‘I had a few contacts and I started calling in favours. It took me six months to reach the people with the power to make things happen, and another six months to persuade them to act. I envisaged E-Force as a multinational –’


‘E-Force?’ Josh Thompson broke in.


‘Emergency Force. Simple, straightforward.’ Thompson was nodding in assent. ‘It’s a multinational effort. The money is partly from governments – the G8 – and partly from cashed-up philanthropists, no names mentioned. A board of governors from six different countries liaises directly with contributing nations through the UN. E-Force is apolitical and non-military, as independent of government control as is possible in our age.’


‘But that equipment,’ Maiko Buchanan said, nodding towards the hangar. ‘I’ve seen some pretty advanced stuff at NASA, but nothing like that.’


Harrison’s eyes were alive with pride and excitement. ‘No, you wouldn’t have,’ he said. ‘Not many people have. You all know of DARPA, of course?’


‘The US military research group?’ Stephanie Jacobs offered.


‘The Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency. There’s an equivalent in Britain, ditto in Russia, China and so on. DARPA is an umbrella name for hundreds of research groups dotted around the USA. Each is financed by the Department of Defense and each works on technological projects that have military applications. Over the years, DARPA has given us the internet, stealth technology, lasers and countless advances in computers. The list is long. What happens is the military pumps billions of dollars into these research projects, and naturally they have first pickings of anything that comes out of them. Years later a technological breakthrough from DARPA filters through to the public. The average delay is about seven years.’


‘But you said E-Force is non-military.’


‘It is. Our technology doesn’t come from DARPA. Back in the late fifties, when DARPA was established, some nervous congressmen didn’t like the idea of the military having exclusive access to new technology. You have to remember this was at the height of the Cold War – McCarthy, reds under the beds. A small group of politicians created a secret offshoot of DARPA. They called it CARPA – the Civilian Advanced Research Projects Agency. The military had nothing to do with it. Didn’t even know about it.


‘CARPA survived, and thrived, in secret. Money was siphoned off to feed it, and like DARPA it has been responsible for some of the most important technological advances over the past fifty years. The thing that distinguishes the civilian branch is that the leaders of the organisation have a remit to spend at least half their annual budget on what they call “far future projects”. DARPA isn’t interested in looking too far ahead, but a large chunk of CARPA’s money and energy goes into projects that are at least two decades beyond mainstream research. Some of this has been fed directly to organisations such as NASA,’ Harrison said, glancing at Maiko Buchanan.


‘All our equipment is from CARPA. The machines you saw down there won’t be commonplace for at least twenty years. In fact, even the military won’t have stuff like that for a decade. CARPA is our primary sponsor. They like to think of E-Force as their test dummies. Not a view I share, by the way. But I don’t mind them thinking it in exchange for their technology.’


‘So, what’s the idea?’ Pete Sherringham asked. ‘You have an organisation of what, several thousand people? How do you operate? What’s the infrastructure?’


‘Good question. Yes, there’s a large team at work here. This is Base One. We have smaller establishments in half a dozen key locations around the world. Over 1300 people are involved with E-Force. But at its heart it will always be a team of specialists. A small, elite group of gifted, super-intelligent, super-fit, highly trained individuals who will operate at the coalface. They will have all this behind them.’ Harrison waved his hand towards the hangar. ‘Ultimately, they will be E-Force.’


‘You’ve suddenly started speaking in the future tense,’ Josh Thompson said.


‘Yes, I know. That’s because I’m hoping that we will be that elite group.’
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They all started talking at once. After a moment, Harrison put up his hands. ‘Okay, okay. Controversial suggestion.’


‘Are you serious?’ Stephanie Jacobs asked. ‘How could we possibly –’


‘Of course I’m serious.’


The four guests were suddenly quiet.


‘You’re all perfect candidates,’ Harrison went on.


‘Except that we all have lives already,’ Pete Sherringham retorted.


‘I realise that. Look, no one expects you to give up your careers. After an initial three-month intensive training period, you will all return to your everyday lives and be … well, for want of a better expression, on-call.’


‘Three months! How can I give up my research for three months?’ Stephanie Jacobs exclaimed.


‘I will take care of everything. Each of you has individual needs. Each of you will be remunerated in full for any financial losses, and you’ll be paid handsomely for your time. Josh, I know your new book isn’t out for six months. You can still work on the next one if you want to. We have peerless research facilities. Pete, your number two can run Globex for three months and you can be in constant touch with your managers from here. And Stephanie, the same applies. You have our resources at your disposal, and the everyday running of the lab can be managed. Maiko, there’ll be no problem arranging a sabbatical from NASA for you.’


There was a heavy silence for a moment. Then Pete Sherringham spoke up. ‘Okay, you seem to have all bases covered, Mark. But why should any of us agree to give up our time and jeopardise our hard-earned careers?’


Harrison looked around the table. He knew the answer. Each of the four were high achievers, determined and truly exceptional people. But he had studied their profiles. He knew, for example, that each of them had reached a point in their lives where they needed a new challenge. ‘The decision is entirely yours,’ he said. ‘But there is one last thing I want to show you.’


He stood up and led them back to the seminar room where they had met. Harrison picked up the remote and flicked on the screen behind him. ‘This happened just before I came in here to introduce myself,’ he said.


The lights dimmed and the screen lit up. It showed the perilous scene on the Cretan mountainside. A rescue worker was making his way under the stricken coach when lightning struck. They all watched him fly through the air. Then, moments later, the coach began to slide. The camera followed it until it hit the rocks below and exploded.
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Aldermont Correctional Facility, New York State


Mark Harrison was driven in silence through the prison gates. Twelve-foot-high grey fences stood to left and right. The view through the windscreen was swept with rain. So different to Tintara, he thought. He had got used to the sunshine and lush vegetation, and autumnal New York State just didn’t cut it.


Letting his mind wander, he felt a familiar knot of excitement. His dream of creating E-Force was finally coming together. It was the culmination of his ambitions, a blend of all his talents, education and experience. Since growing up in Texas as a super-intelligent kid out of sync with his classmates and even his own family, he had been extraordinarily successful. He had savoured his time at university in England and had been extremely popular, becoming the President of the Oxford Union. After that, his career in IT had been a simple progression from one triumph to another, and then his switch to the US military had brought him immediate rewards.


He had been destined for great things, but no matter how much he achieved he always wanted more. It was clear to him now that something had always been missing, and that something was E-Force.


Mark cast his mind back over the meeting with the four people he most wanted as members. They had spent the night at Base One and he had shown them around the complex, trying, in his enthusiasm, not to go overboard. He had even attempted to play down the state-of-the-art facilities at Tintara. His guests had all left deeply impressed. He hadn’t expected instant commitment, and of course none of them had signed up there and then. He hadn’t pushed them. Better to let them mull it over.


He was confident about three of the visitors – Pete Sherringham, Maiko Buchanan and Dr Stephanie Jacobs. Josh Thompson was the problematic one. Josh was almost a celebrity – in some ways he had the most to lose.


And now, Mark thought, here I am, hoping to enlist the vital sixth member of E-Force.


[image: image]


When Mark was led into the cell he found Tom Erickson with his back to him. The light from a laptop cut through the gloom. The guard retreated and locked the door. Erickson spun his wheelchair and snapped shut the laptop.


He looked like a surfer except his legs were limp and twisted. Tom Erickson had marked his nineteenth birthday just a month earlier. His IQ had been recorded at 202 (four points higher than Stephen Hawking). He was wearing baggy jeans and an oversized Ramones T-shirt. His dark hair was lank and hung to his shoulders. His face was gaunt, but his dark eyes were alive and childlike.


It was a face Harrison knew from the cover of Time magazine, for Erickson was the most gifted computer hacker on earth. And it was this gift that had landed him here in Aldermont Correctional Facility with a six-year prison sentence. One year earlier he had been convicted of defrauding a private bank in Washington to the tune of $60 million. He had done it without ever moving away from his laptop.


Erickson was only ten when a truck had hit him outside his home in Baltimore. He had come so close to death that a priest had been called to the ICU. But he had survived, although his legs were rendered completely useless. Bedridden for a year, he had turned to computers and learned he had an intuitive understanding of them. He could almost merge with them. He played a hard drive the way Hendrix played a Strat – by instinct.


Tom’s problems started when he hit puberty and began to resent his predicament. He could blame no one, but that only made it worse. He started to rebel against everything – his parents, school, but most of all some nebulous thing called ‘authority’.


At his trial, public opinion had turned against Tom when he admitted he had robbed the bank simply because he could – because he wanted, as he put it, to ‘fuck people around’. In a world in which money was more important than anything else, the trial had made Erickson infamous. National headlines dubbed him an ‘Evil Genius’ and ‘Doctor Frankenstein of Cyberspace’.


He was no such thing, Mark knew. He was a kid with a great talent and no respect for authority. In other words, extremely dangerous but not inherently evil. ‘I’m amazed they still let you near a computer,’ he remarked.


Erickson looked Mark up and down. ‘They think it’s safe as long as I’m not online. Which would be true …’


Mark couldn’t resist a smile. ‘An odd thing to admit to.’


‘Not really. Think you can prove anything? Good luck, man!’


‘Okay, maybe we should start again,’ Mark said. He walked over to Erickson with his hand out. The boy was reticent but took it limply, his long, thin fingers barely touching Harrison’s.


‘So what brings you to sunny Aldermont?’


‘I have an offer I think will be mutually beneficial.’


‘Don’t tell me – another state-financed cluster-fuck. You have “government lackey” stamped on your forehead, dude.’


Mark looked confused.


‘It goes like this,’ Erickson sighed. ‘The suits in Washington have got themselves in the shit again and will promise to knock a couple of months off my sentence if I solve their latest IT screw-up. You must know it wouldn’t be the first time.’


Mark lowered himself onto the edge of the bed. The boy glared at him. I can understand your frustration, Mark thought. Such wasted talent. It would make anyone furious with the world. ‘Well, I’m happy to say you couldn’t be more wrong,’ he replied after a moment. ‘Take a look at this.’ He handed Erickson a CD.


An image appeared on the boy’s laptop. He looked disinterestedly at the screen, then frowned. His fingers skittered over the keys and his expression changed to one of sceptical curiosity. On the screen, a set of specifications and schematics flowed down as Erickson moved the mouse. Finally, he looked up, his head tilted slightly. ‘Nice fantasy, Mr Government Man.’


‘Reality.’


Erickson flicked a glance back at the screen. ‘You’re fucking with me.’


‘No,’ Mark said, folding his arms. ‘What you have there is a spec for the most sophisticated computer ever built, a prototype quantum computer.’


‘But we’re – what – twenty years away from such a thing!’


‘Clearly not.’


‘Look, what’s this all about? Assuming a quantum computer exists – which I doubt – what do you want me for?’


Mark told him the basic facts about E-Force. The boy stayed silent. When he had finished, the only sounds were from outside, a shout in the distance and the slamming of a heavy door.


‘Okay,’ Erickson said finally. ‘So I wasn’t that far wrong. You’ve hit a problem with your goody-two-shoes scheme. What you offering for my services? Three months for good behaviour?’


‘You know,’ Mark said, fixing his gaze on the strange kid in the wheelchair, ‘for such an intelligent guy, you can be remarkably slow. I want you with us at Base One – permanently. Tom, I’m offering you a way out.’
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Two weeks later


A conventional jet would take two and a half hours to get from southern California to Tintara. But the passengers leaving an isolated base near San Diego were not aboard a 747. A plane like theirs would not be in regular service for another couple of decades. It was a VTOLPA – a vertical take-off and landing passenger aircraft – one of only seven in the world. Known as the Hummingbird, it could carry 22 passengers and crew in considerable comfort at 40,000 feet, with an average cruising speed of mach 6, a little under 4000 miles an hour. This meant it could cross the stretch of the Pacific Ocean to Tintara in twenty minutes.


Maiko Buchanan, Stephanie Jacobs and Pete Sherringham hardly knew one another, but they now had common ground. Each of them had agreed to join E-Force. That first evening on Tintara, two weeks earlier, none of them had been able to express how they felt. It had taken time to sink in. So they had simply enjoyed a friendly dinner, drinks and, of course, the grand tour. Most importantly, though, they had all got on well.


Maiko had been the first to make a commitment. Mark had met her five years earlier at NASA, when he had helped with the agency’s IT upgrades. Even back then, before Buchanan had her own mission command, he had been impressed by her abilities and commitment. But the thing he liked most about her was her open-mindedness. She could see the big picture. This was the crucial reason he had invited her to join the team.


It was her ability to visualise that had made it so easy for Maiko to take the leap. That, and the fact the invitation had come at a great time. Her role at NASA had become a little nebulous. She was one of their most experienced pilots, but the sense of adventure was slipping from her grasp.


Maiko’s life had been relatively uncomplicated until about six months before. She lived in Sugar Land, outside Houston, with her mother and her sixteen-year-old daughter, Greta. But her mother had now moved to a nursing home, and Greta was going through a rebellious phase. Maiko was still not sure what the root of the problem was, except that Greta was determined to reject her heritage wholesale and to be considered completely American, which of course she was. Maiko, though, still felt drawn to the country of her birth, the place where she had spent the first decade of her life. It was something Greta could not grasp, and Maiko disliked the fact that her daughter seemed to be ashamed of her family’s roots. Greta had now moved in with her stepfather, Howard Buchanan, the man Maiko had divorced five years ago. Which left Maiko facing the prospect of living alone in her large house, going through the motions of a career that had peaked, and with no sign of a love life. It hadn’t taken much to persuade her to pick up the phone.


The Hummingbird took off smoothly. Through billowing vapour from the engines, they could see the ground falling away. At 20,000 feet, the plane climbed on a steep diagonal before levelling off at cruising altitude. Once they were out over the Pacific, they felt a serge of acceleration as the engines thrust the craft forward to a comfortable cruising speed of mach 4.4.


Stephanie Jacobs peered out the window. She was feeling suddenly unsure of herself, isolated. Have I made the right decision? she wondered, then tried to smother her doubts. Maiko had told her she had joined up because of good timing. Perhaps the same was true for her. Stephanie’s lab in Sydney was relocating to a dedicated facility close to Avalon, a surf town 20 miles north. And as she watched the clouds rush by, she wondered for the first time whether perhaps Mark Harrison had actually known all about this. Perhaps it had informed his decision to contact her in the first place. Never mind, she thought. It doesn’t matter. I’ve made the commitment and that’s that.


‘So, what made you say yes, Pete?’ Maiko Buchanan asked. Stephanie Jacobs turned away from the window.


‘Asked myself the very same question at least 20 times,’ Pete replied. His strong Geordie accent sounded oddly quaint in this setting. He ran a hand through his thick sandy curls and fixed the two women with his intense bright-blue eyes. ‘Our Colonel Harrison is obviously a very persuasive fella.’ He smiled, but behind the nonchalance lay pain.


A month earlier, Pete had split from his second wife, Donna. She had wanted children, he hadn’t. In his eyes, the world was a very nasty place, and bringing a new, innocent life into that world would have been cruel. He could never understand how intelligent people – who could see how corrupt the world had become – still chose to fill it with more people. He had loved Donna, but he had known that if he had let her have her way, he would never have forgiven himself.


‘It’s interesting there’re only the three of us,’ Stephanie said suddenly, snapping Pete out of his reverie.


‘Not really,’ Maiko replied. ‘I never thought for a minute Josh Thompson would commit.’


‘You know him, right?’


‘Yeah, and he’s a great guy, but he’s his own man. He’s also kinda famous now.’


Stephanie shrugged. ‘I’m sure Harrison has a Plan B. To be honest, I thought Josh Thompson was a bit full of himself.’


Maiko grinned. ‘He’s certainly one for the ladies – so I’m told!’


They heard a sound from the direction of the flight deck and turned to see Mark Harrison approaching. Behind him a young, long-haired man rolled along in a motorised wheelchair.


‘I’m glad you could all make it,’ Mark said. He moved to one side as the youth came forward. ‘This is Tom Erickson,’ he added. ‘Our IT guru.’


Peter Sherringham was the first to respond, shaking Tom’s hand warmly. The two women looked stunned – they instantly recognised the infamous hacker.


‘Well, I hope you’re all enjoying the flight,’ Harrison said, easing himself into one of the armchair-sized seats. He handed each of them a white envelope. ‘Your contracts, and a down payment on your services.’


Pete was the only one to open his. He gave the contents a quick glance, but the others could tell he was pleased by what he saw. He folded the envelope and put it in his jacket pocket.


‘I can’t help noticing that there are only three of us from our first visit,’ Stephanie Jacobs said.


‘Yes. Regrettably, Josh Thompson has decided not to join us. But there are contingencies. Now, I wanted to just give you a quick briefing en route to Tintara. Once we arrive I want us to get straight down to business. Tom here will be overseeing every aspect of our computer systems. I can’t emphasise enough the importance of this role. It’s quite possible our lives will depend on Tom’s talents.’


‘Don’t take this the wrong way, lad,’ Pete interrupted, looking directly at Erickson. ‘But aren’t you supposed to be behind bars?’


‘I was, until this nice man from E-Force came to visit,’ Tom responded, nodding towards Mark. ‘Looks like you’re going to have to trust an old jailbird, dude.’


Mark handed each of them a leather folder. ‘Basic stuff,’ he said. ‘Specs of the equipment, background info on the set-up.’


They flicked through sheets of data on the island and schematics of the base. Base One was the centre of operations, and for obvious reasons its whereabouts was a closely guarded secret. Tintara was little more than an atoll, three and a half miles long and 1500 yards across, girdled by pure white sand.


‘This place is a freaking cliché,’ Tom said, looking at an aerial photograph of Tintara. ‘Palm trees, fantasy beaches, the works!’


‘Yep, there’s even a bar on the north beach run part-time by a couple of very enthusiastic technicians. They do a mean caipiroska,’ Mark replied. ‘There’s almost nothing to see from the air, though. Some of the key buildings are on the surface, but camouflaged. As you saw on your first visit,’ he added, turning to Pete, Maiko and Stephanie, ‘a lot happens underground – we have living quarters, operations rooms and technical support, including an amazing complex of labs. The computer nexus is here,’ he said, pointing out the location for Tom’s benefit.


‘We’re over 200 miles from the nearest island – a long way from prying eyes. But, even so, security is tight. On missions, the aircraft are sealed against unauthorised access, and the skin of all vehicles and machinery has been coated with Camoflin.’


‘Which is?’ Maiko asked.


‘Another wonder from CARPA. It’s a paint that camouflages our equipment and blurs any photographs or video footage taken by nosy individuals. We use the same stuff for the buildings on the island. On the base, all access is controlled by retinal-scan technology. You each have quarters in the main accommodation area, here.’ He tapped the map to show them.


‘Now, as you know, nothing has been tested in the field yet and we won’t be fully operational for three months. Once your training is complete, you’ll return to your day jobs. But you’ll be on-call to respond to any appropriate emergency. We’ll be ready to tackle a broad spectrum of operations anywhere in the world. We can reach any point on the globe within two or three hours.


‘Potentially, there will be five of us on a mission, but maybe not all at the same time. Tom will remain at Base One. As the computer expert, he’ll be there to support us during a mission. Any questions?’


‘How do you know if E-Force is needed?’ Tom asked.


‘BigEye, a set of satellites that monitors activity on the Earth’s surface. Look in the file – pages 105 to 123, I think.’ Mark paused for a moment. ‘Okay, the training plan itself. You’ll each be put through a core programme, which will involve an advanced survival course and instruction in how to use all the equipment at our disposal, including piloting the fleet of aircraft.’


Mark flicked a switch on his armrest and the cabin lights dimmed. A screen lit up in front of them. ‘Just a quick survey of the equipment,’ he said, and an image of a futuristic aircraft appeared on the screen. It was the Hummingbird. ‘This is the plane we’re sitting in,’ he said. The image changed. ‘And this is the Silverback. You three saw it on your first trip. We have four of these – John, Paul, George and Ringo. Top speed of mach 10. Crew of two. These can carry 500 pounds of equipment. They’re designed to get one or two members of E-Force anywhere on Earth, ultra-fast.’


‘You serious about those speeds?’ Tom asked. He was shaking his head in disbelief.


‘Yep,’ Mark replied. ‘All these planes are VTOL, for which they use conventional jet engines. But once they’re at operational altitude, they shift to scramjets.’


‘Scramjets?’ Maiko said. ‘We use them at NASA.’


‘Of course. NASA’s plane, the X-43A, is famous. Broke the air speed record in 2004. Mach 9.8. Our planes use a very advanced version of the same technology. Scramjets take in oxygen from the air at supersonic speeds and use it to burn fuel. They don’t need to carry most of the propellant. They just suck up the oxygen as they move through the air. A bit like a whale eating plankton.’


The image changed again. This time a massive, almost spherical aircraft appeared. It was silver, with a flight deck high up on the sphere. It looked for all the world like a giant burger. ‘The Big Mac,’ Mark said. ‘Our main cargo workhorse. It carries the heavy stuff; four-seater submarines, heavy digging equipment, winching machinery. We use the Big Mac to transport an array of equipment. This includes the Mole, a 2000-horsepower burrowing machine, the Cage, a protective framework for working in extremely unstable conditions, and the Firefly, a two-seater firefighting vehicle that can tolerate an outer-skin temperature of 1000 degrees Celsius for an hour. Aside from these, we have an assortment of heli-jets that can fly at mach 2, ground vehicles, boats and high-speed subs.’


The screen flicked off and the lights came up.


‘You said there was a core programme,’ Stephanie said. ‘What else is there?’


‘I was just coming to that. You’ll have a further programme tailored to each of you. Those who’ve not had military training will be put through a course based on one used by the Green Berets. Those without medical training will be given a crash course in essential procedures.’ Mark paused for a moment and looked into each of their faces. ‘I won’t pretend. It’s going to be tough, very tough. Any questions?’


‘Yeah, just one,’ Tom said. ‘I take it I’ll be exempt from the hundred-yard sprint through mud and horseshit?’
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The four men met in the flesh only rarely. Most of the time they merely shared pixels. Today’s encounter was another of those virtual meetings.


At first glance, there was little that linked them. Granted, they were all overachievers. Two were politicians of significance, one was a resources billionaire, and the last a media mogul. All were aged between 50 and 70. One was very tall, six-foot-five; another very short, just five-foot-four. Two were fitness freaks and buff. One, the 70-year-old, weighed in at over 25 stone, with barely an ounce of muscle on him. The fourth was broad-shouldered with a paunch. Outward appearances, then, were entirely deceptive. Only one thing drew these four men together – money. They had met at a World Bank dinner for insiders, adjourned for brandy and cigars in a side room at Gleneagles one warm summer evening, and bingo – they had bonded.


At their next meeting, they decided what it was that they would do together. And at the same gathering they had shared a little black humour. They dubbed themselves Death, Conquest, War and Pestilence – the Four Horsemen of the Apocalypse.


Between them, these men were worth more than $100 billion. They controlled three of the most important sectors of 21st-century life – finance, the lifeblood of the world; the media, the neural net of the age; and the politics of the world’s only superpower. At their meetings they each donned a tie with the colour of their attribute – pale green for Death, white for Conquest, red for War and black for Pestilence. It was probably a little OTT, but what the hell?


The Four Horsemen had a very simple agenda. Money was not just power, it was everything. Ergo, anyone who threatened their ability to make money was an enemy and must be stopped. At their third meeting in Cincinnati, soon after 9/11, they had joked about the old Wall Street war cry that it was not enough to win, you had to destroy your enemy. For them, the aphorism didn’t go nearly far enough. The enemy must be utterly annihilated, their families destroyed, eviscerated, their corpses pissed on.


‘So, what’s the latest?’ Death asked, his face large on three wall-screens, in Berlin, Shanghai and Dallas.


‘We have to make a decision. Our friend the senator is growing more powerful by the day,’ Pestilence responded.


‘Very well,’ Death replied.


‘Is your plan really the only option?’ Conquest adjusted his white tie as he spoke.


‘You seem nervous.’ Pestilence smirked. ‘Most unlike you, my friend.’


‘I’m not nervous – I just want assurances.’


‘Oh, come now, Conquest. When is that ever possible? Nothing in life comes with assurances, does it? But at least we know we work for a noble cause. Human existence has shown there is no greater God than the greenback.’


‘Yes,’ chuckled War, his chins wobbling. ‘Just take an L from gold and what do you have?’


The others stared at him stonily. They had heard it before.


‘So, the plan,’ Death said. ‘You intend using the Dragon, I take it?’


‘Who else?’ Pestilence said. ‘Actually, he’s sorting out a minor irritation as we speak – that little shit, Gordon Smith. But after that, he could begin preparations. Disposing of the senator will be an altogether trickier proposition.’


‘So. When, exactly?’ Conquest asked, and adjusted his tie again.


‘Soon. Do I have unanimous approval?’


The others nodded in turn.
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Museum of Modern Art, West 53rd Street, New York


‘Champagne?’


Josh Thompson turned to see a smiling waiter holding a tray of drinks. He had arrived late. The event was the launch of the latest book by the art historian Anna Fitzgibbon, with whom he shared a literary agent, Carl Reed of Reed & Stringer. He noticed Carl accompanying a statuesque woman to a podium at one end of the room. A who’s who of the New York literary and art scene were here to sip Veuve Clicquot, eat expensive canapés, and cheer the celebrated author. Away from the stage, they huddled in groups, sticking in the verbal knife in hushed tones.


Josh was finding it hard to engage. He didn’t know many people here, but it wasn’t that. It was the news on the radio as he drove to the museum. The city of Charleston, South Carolina, was facing the worst storm ever seen that far north. Hurricane Nell was hours away from the city and showing little sign of losing its potency. The Ashley River was at an all-time high and the levee was about to break. A city of over 700,000 people was facing imminent disaster. It was New Orleans all over again, Josh Thompson thought, as he made his way to the edge of the small crowd clustered around the podium.


Anna Fitzgibbon was a real pro, but Josh had never been interested in the minutiae of painters and painting. In many ways he was a down-to-earth character with simple tastes. When it came to art, he could appreciate a good picture for its own sake. He didn’t have much time for what his army buddies would have called ‘arty-farty rubbish’, and he couldn’t care less how the artist had arrived at his or her revolutionary technique or what drugs were consumed while they painted their masterpiece.


Josh surveyed the room, the well-fed tuxedoed, the smug and the sequined. He drained his glass. Right now the waves will be smashing into Old Charleston, he thought. The authorities would be doing their best to evacuate people. Brave volunteers would try to stand up to the unimaginable power of nature. At this very moment, people are dying.


Later, after the speeches and the toasts and the backslapping, Josh found himself sitting alone on the front steps of the museum. It was an unseasonable balmy evening. From all around came the hum of the city, car horns, sirens, the pulse of millions of individual lives.


He suddenly felt very lonely. The press of those millions of people made little impression; it passed like a shadow. He’d always been comfortable with solitude – especially since Maggie had left him four years before. She always claimed that the SAS had ruined him, had turned him into an obsessive individual married to the army. But he knew this was only partly true. He was indeed an obsessive, but he hadn’t been married to the army, he had been married to his specialisation – cryptography. He was a multitalented man and had excelled at many things, but what really obsessed him was the study of codes and ciphers, the arcane mathematical roots of the discipline.
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